
CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
Harry Farmer, Chair of the Resources & Infrastructure Committee, hereby calls a Special
Meeting pursuant to California Government Code Section 54956. The Special Meeting will
be held: Tuesday, October 22, 2019, 3:00 PM, 1000 Main Street Cambria, CA 93428.
The purpose of Special Meeting is to discuss or transact the following business:

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING

CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
RESOURCES & INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE

Tuesday, October 22, 2019
3:00 PM

1000 Main Street Cambria, CA 93428

Copies of the staff reports or other documentation relating to each item of business
referred to on the agenda are on file in the Office of the Commission Chairperson,
available for public inspection during District business hours. The agenda and agenda
packets are also available on the CCSD website at www.cambriacsd.org. The District
Office hours are Monday - Thursday, and every other Friday from 9:00 a.m. through 4:00
p.m. Please call 805-927-6223 if you need any assistance. If requested, the agenda and
supporting documents shall be made available in alternative formats to persons with a
disability. The Commission Chairperson will answer any questions regarding the agenda.

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ESTABLISH QUORUM
3. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

4. SUB-COMMITTEE AD HOC REPORTS

5. PUBLIC COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS

6. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Consideration to Approve the September 17, 2019 Regular
Meeting Minutes

7. REGULAR BUSINESS

A. Discuss and Review Capital Improvement Project Budget
Reallocations and Approve Staff Recommendations

B. Discussion and Consideration of Resources &
Infrastructure Committee Mission Statement, Goals and
Objectives

1



C. Receive Report from Ad Hoc Subcommittee Regarding Cambria
Water Availability Use and Future Demand

D. Receive Update from Staff on the Sustainable Solutions Turnkey
(SST) Program

E. Discussion and Consideration of the Formation of an Ad Hoc
Committee Regarding the Hiring of a Consultant to Assist in the
Updating of the Cambria 2020 Urban Water Management Plan
(UWMP)

8. ADJOURN

2



RESOURCES & INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE 

REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday, September 17, 2019 - 3:00 PM 
1000 Main Street, Cambria, CA 93428 

MINUTES 

A. CALL TO ORDER [0:00]*

Chairman Farmer called the meeting to order at 3:01 p.m. 

B. ESTABLISH QUORUM [0:00]

A quorum was established. 

Committee members present:  
Harry Farmer, Chair 

Karen Dean, Vice-Chair 
Brad Fowles 
Tom Gray 
Paul Nugent 
James Webb 

Staff present:  

John F. Weigold IV, General Manager 

Members of public present:  
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 
Allan Dean 

Paul Reichardt 
Cindy Steidel 
Crosby Swartz 
Laura Swartz 

C. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT [0:00]*

3



 

 

Report from Chairman Harry Farmer on Sept. 7 Town Hall meeting held by CCSD on Water and 
Wastewater infrastructure;  background information on past CCSD policies encouraging 
installation of cisterns and/or water tanks 
  
 
D. AD HOC SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS  

 
Report from Ad Hoc Committee on Water Use and Demand Management (members 
presenting: Tom Gray, Karen Dean and Brad Fowles). [0:06] 
 

Public Comment: 
Paul Reichardt 

Elizabeth Bettenhausen 
  
1. PUBLIC COMMENT (ITEMS NOT ON AGENDA) [0:24] 

 
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 
Laura Swartz 
Paul Reichardt 
Allan Dean 
Crosby Swartz 
 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA [0:51] 
 
A. Consideration to approve the August 13, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes. 
 
. 
Motion [0:51]:  To approve the minutes 
 
Motion by:  Vice Chair Dean 
 
Seconded by:  Member Gray 
 
The motion was approved 5-Ayes (Dean, Gray, Fowles, Nugent, Webb), 0-Nays. 

 
 
3. REGULAR BUSINESS [0:52] 
 
A. Discussion and consideration of the subcommittee recommendation on the 

Resources & Infrastructure Committee Mission Statement, Goals and Objectives. 
[0:52] 

 
Public Comment:  
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 
Laura Swartz 
 
 
Agenda Item 3(A) continued to the next regular Resources & Infrastructure Committee 
meeting.  

4



 

 

 
B. Discussion regarding the California Coastal Commission decision on the proposed 

People’s Self-Help housing project on Schoolhouse Lane [1:31] 
 
Public Comment:  
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 
Laura Swartz 

Crosby Swartz 
 

No action taken on Agenda Item 3(B) 
 
C. Discussion of options for funding capital improvement projects for Water and 

Wastewater departments [1:39] 
 

Staff report:  John Weigold 
 

Public Comment: 
Crosby Swartz 
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 

 
Motion [1:54]: To extend the meeting by 15 minutes. 

 
Motion by: Vice Chair Dean 
 
Seconded by: Member Gray 
 
The motion was approved 5-Ayes (Dean, Gray, Fowles, Nugent, Webb), 0-Nays. 
 

No action taken on Agenda Item 3(C) 
 
D. Discussion and consideration regarding rescheduling the October 2019 Resources & 
Infrastructure Committee meeting date [1:55] 
 
Public Comment: None 
 
Motion [1:55]: To change the date of the next Resources & Infrastructure Committee meeting 
to October 22, 2019. 
 
Motion by: Member Gray 
 
Seconded by: Vice Chair Dean 

 
The motion was approved 5-Ayes (Dean, Gray, Fowles, Nugent, Webb), 0-Nays. 
 
 
 

5



 

 

 
4. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  [1:55] 
 
Additional discussion of Agenda Item 3(C) 
 
Public Comment:  
Elizabeth Bettenhausen 

 
Future items discussed: 

 
Progress report on Item 3(C) from John Weigold 
Revised proposal for Mission Statement, Goals and Objectives 

Updated report from Ad Hoc Committee on Water Use and Demand Management 
 
5.           ADJOURN [2:09] 
 
Chairman Farmer adjourned the meeting at 5:10 p.m. 
 
* Start Time in Hrs/Mins on Recordings 
 
 

6



Attachment to September 17, 2019 Meeting Mintues7



CAMBRIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 

TO:  Resource & Infrastructure Committee   AGENDA NO. 7.A. 
       
FROM: John F Weigold IV, General Manager 
  Pamela Duffield, Finance Manager  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Meeting Date: October 22, 2019     Subject: DISCUSS AND REVIEW CAPITAL  
        IMPROVEMENT PROJECT BUDGET 
        REALLOCATIONS AND APPROVE  
        STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS    
             

RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends the Resource & Infrastructure Committee discuss 
and review capital improvement project budget reallocations and approve recommendations to 
the Finance Committee.  The capital improvement project budget reallocations are provided in 
the chart below.  
 
DISCUSSION: In developing the FY 2019/2020 budget, staff worked with Resource & 
Infrastructure Committee to prioritize capital improvement projects in Water, SWF and 
Wastewater. The capital improvement projects with ranking of Priority 1, exceeded the budget 
available. The Board adopted the FY 2019/2020 budget, aware that further discussion with 
Staff, Resources & Infrastructure and Finance Committees would occur to reallocate capital 
improvement project budget to specific Priority 1 projects, during the 1st quarter budget report.  
 
Staff recommends the Resource & Infrastructure Committee make a recommendation to the 
Finance Committee to approve the capital improvement project budget reallocations which are 
outlined in the chart below.   
 
Budget Reallocations

Fund Date Agenda Item Purpose Sources Uses

Water 8/15/2019 3.A. Water Meters/SCADA System - Reallocate budget -$              (49,000)$       

Water  Generator Replacement - Add project & budget -$              49,000$         

Fund Sub-Total -$              -$               

Difference (unidentified sources of funding) -$              

Wastewater 8/15/2019 3.A. Vac Truck/Video Camera/Lift Stations - Reallocate budget -$              (303,927)$     

Wastewater Vactor Truck (annual debt service) - Add project & budget -$              95,000$         

Wastewater Video Camera - Add project & budget -$              75,000$         

Wastewater Lift Stations - Add project & budget -$              133,927$      

Fund Sub-Total -$              -$               

Difference (unidentified sources of funding) -$              

Difference (Total unidentified sources of funding) -$               
 
 
Attachment: A) Capital Improvement Project List 
 
 

8



1

2  Ranking Project Cost 10 yr Cost
3 Water Distribution System Projects
4 1 Pressure Zone 2 to Zone 7 transmission main replacement @ SR Creek pedestrian bridge 1 120,000$         120,000$         
5 2 Water Meter Replacements & Upgrades 1 1,050,000$     1,050,000$     
6 3 Annual GIS updating & upgrades 1 10,000$           100,000$         
7 4 Piney Way erosion control inspection report and follow-up protection efforts for existing pipeline 1 10,000$           10,000$           
8 1,190,000$     1,280,000$     
9 5 Subzone metering of distribution system 2 150,000$         150,000$         
10 6 Stuart Street Tank Replacement (125K gallon welded steel tank with new foundation) 2 458,000$         458,000$         
11 608,000$         608,000$         
12 7 Replacement of problematic service lines within Leimert 3 130,000$         130,000$         
13 8 Water Master Plan Amendment (revised fire flow modeling/tank sizing check) 3 35,000$           35,000$           
14 9 Annual Water pipelines, pumps, and PRV repairs and replacements 3 50,000$           500,000$         
15 10 Valve Replacements 3 20,000$           20,000$           
16 235,000$         685,000$         
17

11
Inspection & spot repair to water transmission main under S. Parks wetlands area; or lining of transmission main plus study & 
predesign 4 80,000$           80,000$           

18 12 Pine Knolls - Iva Court zone 1 pipeline expansion 4 165,000$         165,000$         
19 245,000$         245,000$         
20 Tank & Booster Pump Station Projects
21 1 SCADA System - Long-term Water Portion 1 250,000$         250,000$         
22 2 Electrical transfer switch and conduit to well SS-3 2 25,000$           25,000$           
23 3 San Simeon well field generator replacement 2 100,000$         100,000$         
24 125,000$         125,000$         
25 4 Rodeo Grounds Pump Station Replacement (aka Zone 2 Booster pump station) 3 1,016,000$     1,016,000$     
26 Water conservation
27 1 Database for water conservation program/tracking with parcel links & APN file conversion 1 10,000$           10,000$           
28 Vehicles & Trailer Mounted-Equipment
29 1 Vehicle Replacement Program Reserves (Accumulate Funds) 1 25,000$           250,000$         
30 Overhead Projects
31 1 Contingency/reserves (Accumulate Funds) 1 15,000$           150,000$         
32 4,619,000$     
33 1,940,000$     
34 733,000$         
35 1,701,000$     
36 245,000$         
37

38  Ranking Project Cost 10 yr Cost
39 Permitting
40 1 EIR consulting (follow up agency discussions to support  the SWF's Regular CDP) 1 10,000$           10,000$           
41 2 Section 7 ESA consulting, annual AMP report, & AMP update 1 100,000$         100,000$         
42 110,000$         110,000$         
43 Interim, short-term SWF Modifications
44 1 Modifications to facilitate off-hauling RO waste (secondary containment, grading, rock, purchase tanks)
45 a) Secondary Containment, Grading, Rock 1 20,000$           20,000$           
46 b) Tank purchase 1 80,000$           80,000$           
47 100,000$         100,000$         
48 Advanced Water Treatment Plant 
49 1 Miscelaneous instrumentation / monitoring upgrades 2 10,000$           10,000$           
50 2 Filters / membrane replacements (or build reserves for future) 2 -$                  
51 10,000$           10,000$           
52 Long-Term Improvement Modifications
53

1 
Consutling assistance for coordination with Army Corps on WRDA grant (meetings, redefine work plan, & update scope of 
work) 1 40,000$           40,000$           

54 2 Future permanent mods at SWF for trailer fill station [transfer tanks, piping, & spill contrainment/loading pad] (1,2) 2 200,000$         200,000$         
55 3 AWTP pull-barn style covers for outdoor equipment & control panels (1,2) 2 50,000$           50,000$           
56 250,000$         250,000$         
57

4 
Sems, Hach WIMS, or custom programmer for logging/reporting software and tablets (yr 1 is software/programming 
assistance) 3 25,000$           25,000$           

58 5 Installation of remote sensing instrumentation at SS creek (needs access agreement with State Parks) 3 10,000$           10,000$           
59 6 Solar Array System (1,2) 3 375,000$         375,000$         
60 410,000$         410,000$         
61 920,000$         
62 250,000$         
63 260,000$         
64 410,000$         
65 -

SWF CIP - Capital Improvement Program (Revised 4/30/2019 - For Discussion Only)

Water CIP - Capital Improvement Program (Revised 5/6/2019 - For Discussion Only)

Priority 4 Subtotal

Priority 3 Subtotal

Priority 2 Subtotal

Priority 1 Subtotal

 Priority 2 Subtotal

Grand Total
Priority 1 Total
Priority 2 Total
Priority 3 Total
Priority 4 Total

Priority 1 Subtotal

Priority 1 Subtotal

Priority 2 Subtotal

Priority 3 Subtotal
Grand Total

Priority 1 Total
Priority 2 Total
Priority 3 Total
Priority 4 Total

Priority 2 Subtotal

Regular Business Item 7.A. Attachment9



1    

2     Wastewater Projects  Ranking Project Cost 10‐Yr Cost
3     Wastewater Treatment Plant Projects in SST
4    

1

Electrical Upgrades (ECM 7) ‐ Conduits between PG&E transformer and service witchboard, switchboard, connections to 

existing switchboard, connections to generator) SST 232,500$             232,500$            
5    

2

Secondary Water System (3W) Improvements (ECM 10) ‐ Submersible pumps, hydrpneumatic tank, demo, electrical/I&C

SST 185,000$             185,000$            
6     3 Sewer Lift Stations (ECM 12) ‐ Lift Station B1, Lift Station B4, Electrical/I&C SST 3,945,000$         3,945,000$        
7    

4

Influent Lift Station Modifications (ECM 2) ‐ Bypassing; VFDs; Equipment & Material Demo; Pumps, guiderails, valves, and 

piping installation; upper concrete wet well deck & hatches (installation); electrical/I&C; new concrete and repair coatings

SST 846,250$             846,250$            
8    

5

Modified Ludzak‐Ettinger Process Upgrade (ECM 3) ‐ MLE conversion based on Carollo 2015 Study minus VFD costs; 

header repair SST 853,750$             853,750$            
9     6 Influent Flow Equalization (ECM 1) ‐ New or refurbished EQ tanks based on Carollo 10% design SST 1,060,000$         1,060,000$        

10  

7

Effluent Pump Station Improvements (ECM 11) ‐ Demo; surge tank replacement; pump replacement; install new VFDs; 

flowmeter; discharge manifold piping; instrumentation; replace air release valves; pipeline cleaning and flushing; 

electrical/I&C SST 733,750$             733,750$            
11  

8

RAS and WAS Pumping Improvements (ECM 5) ‐ RAS pumping system; WAS pumping system; scum pumps replacement; 

skimming troughs replacement; electrical/I&C SST 496,250$             496,250$            
12   9 SCADA System (ECM 9) ‐ New SCADA system based on Carolla 10% Design SST 721,250$             721,250$            
13   10 Backup Power (ECM 8) ‐ 365 kW NG Generator; Demo; Propane backup SST 497,500$             497,500$            
14   11 Blower System Improvements (ECM 4) ‐ Replace 2 blowers; duct replacement SST 1,345,000$         1,345,000$        
15  

12

Sludge Thickening (ECM 6) ‐ Rehabilitate rotary drum thickener and screw press; new transfer pumps; stabilization tanks; 

aeration system and control valve; demo of clarifiers; rolloff area with roof; electrical/I&C SST 961,250$             961,250$            
16   11,877,500$       11,877,500$      
17   Treatment Plant Projects Not in SST
18   1 Clarifier Repairs (replace eastern drive unit's metalic hubs with non‐corrosive hubs) 1 35,000$               35,000$              
19   Collection System Projects
20   1 Lift Station B‐2 (Wood Dr./E. Lodge Hill) new control panel at grade el. 1 425,000$             425,000$            
21   2 Lift Station B‐3 (Green St./W. Lodge Hill) new control panel  1 250,000$             250,000$            
22   3 Lift Station 4 (DeVault Pl/Seaclift Estates)  VFDs /new elect panel & 3 phase pump motors 1 85,000$               85,000$              
23   4 Five‐Year Replacement and New PCs for operators 1 10,000$               20,000$              
24   5 Annual manhole inspections and report on needed corrections (approx. 20% of system/yr) 1 40,000$               400,000$            
25  

6

Annual Collection System Phased televising & cleaning (revised 11/20/18 reduced cost by 50% & extended number of 

years ‐ SSMP has this over 10 yrs,) 1 50,000$               500,000$            
26   7 Lift Station A (Nottingham & Leighton/Park Hill) new submsersible pumps, MCC, bypass piping 1 400,000$             400,000$            
27   8 Lift Station A (Nottingham & Leighton/Park Hill)  control panel at grade el 1 90,000$               90,000$              
28   9 Lift Station A‐1 (Sherwood & Harvey/Marine Terrace) submersible pumps, MCC, bypass piping 1 265,000$             265,000$            
29   1,615,000$         2,435,000$        
30  

31   1 Lift Station B improvements (SR Creek/behind Park Hill) new control panel  2 75,000$               75,000$              
32   2 Annual manhole raising due to street overlays & roadway work/Manhole cover replacements 2 10,000$               100,000$            
33   85,000$               175,000$            
34  

35   1 Annual Collection System Repairs to reduce I/I & damaged pipe sections 3 50,000$               500,000$            
36   2 Lift Station B ‐ new wet well, submersible pumps, and valve vault (placeholder) 3 300,000$             300,000$            
37   3 Collection System Assessment software (E.g, t4 Spatial or other) 3 10,000$               10,000$              
38  

4

Annual Collection System Assessment/engineering for repairs (extended number of years ‐ SSMP has this occurring over 

10 yrs) 3 30,000$               300,000$            
39   5 Lift Station B‐3 (Green St./W. Lodge Hill) submserible pumps, MCC, bypass piping 3 250,000$             250,000$            
40   6 Lift Station B ‐ replace existing generator 3 60,000$               60,000$              
41   700,000$             1,420,000$        
42  

43   1 Annual SCADA System Maintenance or Upgrades ‐ Collections System 4 25,000$               25,000$              
44   2 Collection System smoke testing 4 50,000$               50,000$              
45   75,000$               75,000$              
46   Vehicles and Trailer‐ Mounted Equipment
47  

1

Pearpoint or equal TV inspection camera  (removed cost from mid year total to meet reduced funding balance, 

11/20/2018.) 1 50,000$               50,000$              
48   2 Vactor truck ‐ replace with new $430K truck that meets emssion requirements (7 yr loan @ 4.5%) 1 518,000$             518,000$            
49   568,000$             568,000$            
50  

51   3 Vehicle Replacement Program (Annual reserves) 3 25,000$               250,000$            
52  

53   4 Portable equipment replacement program ‐ backhoes, generators and pumps (Annual reserves) 4 15,000$               150,000$            
54   Deferred Major Maintenance
55   1 Cleaning of aeration basins (after screen installation) 1 20,000$               20,000$              
56   2 Cleaning of pipelines from headworks to aeration tanks (after screen installation), including cleanout additions 1 10,000$               10,000$              
57   30,000$               30,000$              
58  

59   3 Western clarifier ‐ Replace clarifier chain, wear shoes, skid plates, & sprockets 2 40,000$               40,000$              
60   4 Eastern clarifer ‐ Replace clarifier chain, wear shoes, skid plates, & sprockets 2 40,000$               40,000$              

Wastewater CIP ‐ Capital Improvement Program (Revised 5/6/2019 ‐ For Discussion Only)

Subtotal

Subtotal

Subtotal

Subtotal

Subtotal

Subtotal

Subtotal

Regular Business Item 7.A. Attachment10



1    

2     Wastewater Projects  Ranking Project Cost 10‐Yr Cost

Wastewater CIP ‐ Capital Improvement Program (Revised 5/6/2019 ‐ For Discussion Only)

61   5 Repainting of WWTP 2 30,000$               30,000$              
62   6 Repainting of lift station facilities 2 10,000$               10,000$              
63   40,000$               40,000$              
64  

65   7 Seal coat AC pavement at WWTP 4 65,000$               65,000$              
66   17,120,500$      
67   Priority 1 Total 3,068,000$        
68   Priority 2 Total 215,000$            
69   Priority 3 Total 1,670,000$        
70   Priority 4 Total 290,000$            
71   SST Total 11,877,500$      

Subtotal

Grand Total

Regular Business Item 7.A. Attachment11



Regular Business Item 7.B. Attachment 

 

Mission Statement: 
  
The Standing Resources and Infrastructure Committee is an advisory group established to 
advise the CCSD Board of Directors on matters pertaining to the District’s physical assets.  
 
Objectives: 
 

• Assess existing resources and gather information regarding the current and future needs 
of the community. 

• Establish needs of the community, and maintain a working relationship with the 
community and the CCSD Board of Directors. 

• Consider and recommend plans of action that meet Infrastructure and Resources needs 
within the CCSD, or at the discretion of the Board.  

• Hold public meetings, tour and evaluate facilities, provide public access to tours. 

• Review annual staff reports on regulatory compliance.  

• Readdress yearly Resources and Infrastructure Committee goals to ensure they are 
inline with the District’s overall priorities.  

 
 
Goals: 
 

• Analyze and minimize loss of District water. 

• Create inventory management system for physical assets 

• Advise Board on lifecycle expectations for physical assets and assist staff with long-term 
planning. 

• Review and amend District conservation programs and identify opportunities.  

12



Cambria Water Demand Report – DRAFT (updated 10-11-19) 

I. Introduction and Summary

The Resources and Infrastructure Committee of the Cambria Community Services 
District has created an ad hoc committee to analyze water demand in Cambria and to 
assess the adequacy of current data for forecasting demand in the future. The following 
report is being presented by the three committee members – Karen Dean, Brad Fowles 
and Tom Gray – in response to this request. 

This report is not intended to supersede the CCSD’s Urban Water Management Plan, 
most recently updated in 2015 and due for its next update in 2020. What we attempt here 
is a close-up look at past and present patterns in water usage in Cambria, based on the 
data available at this point. We also seek to identify data gaps that need to be filled before 
a reasonably reliable forecast can be made.  

Careful forecasting of water demand is critical to the CCSD as it decides how to provide 
a reliable water supply in all conditions, including extended droughts, for the 
community’s residents.  In light of potential future growth in water connections, it is 
especially important to have a clear picture of water use on a per-capita and per-
connection basis. The CCSD needs to be able to estimate, for instance, what the addition 
of a certain number of connections and/or full-time residence would do to overall water 
demand.  

Demand forecasting also needs to focus not just on annual totals but on demand in the dry 
half of the year, the months from May through October. This is the time when water use 
is highest and when shortfalls are likely to occur. For that reason we break out usage data 
for both dry and wet seasons, based on CCSD billing data since 2003. 

Billing data, while not precisely reflecting actual water use, is the best source we have at 
present to measure consumption and identify short-term trends. Water production records 
give a longer-term view, but they can vary widely from billed-use totals and thus need to 
be used with caution in forecasting. We have drawn on both of these sources for most of 
our analysis. 

We also have used available Census data to analyze per-capita use. Here we have 
identified several challenges. First, much of the data, especially the most recent, comes 
from surveys with large margins of error. Second, Census data on housing units does not 
make distinctions, such as between full- and part-time residency, that are crucial to 
forecasting residential water use in Cambria. Finally, we are on the eve of a new 
decennial Census (in 2020) that may show a shift in demographic and housing trends that 
will force us to reassess assumptions based on the numbers from 2000 and 2010.  

We identify a number of areas that need further analysis and/or current data. One is the 
CCSD’s demand offset program, in which data has not been updated for several years. 
Others are the question of full vs. part-time residency rates, the potential impact of 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment13



accessory dwelling units (ADUs), demographic trends, future commercial water use, 
water usage trends in landscape irrigation, and the success of efforts to close the gap 
between production and billed use.  
 
We view this report as a summary of what we know at present and what we need to find 
out before making credible statements about the future. Our aim is to help the CCSD 
develop a solid foundation of knowledge for demand forecasts such as those in the 2020 
update of the Urban Water Management Plan. 
 
 
II. Review of the Data 
 
1) Cambria’s Water Usage Today 
 
In the latest full year (2018), CCSD customers of all types were billed for use of 468.5 
acre-feet. Total water production was 535.9 acre-feet. The difference between production 
and billing was 67.5 acre-feet, or 12.6% of production.  
 
Of the total billed water consumption, residential use accounted for 309 acre-feet, or 
66% of the total. Commercial use was 129.3 acre-feet, or 27.6% of the total, with 
another 22.3 acre-feet (4.8%) consumed by licensed vacation rentals. Commercial and 
vacation-rental use comes to 32.4% of the total. The remaining 7.9 acre-feet (1.7%) is 
billed to CCSD internal accounts.  
 
Two numbers -- per capita use and use per connection -- are especially important in 
forecasting. 
 
Per capita: Based on the 2010 Census population of 6,032, per capita billed use for all 
categories is .078 acre-feet (25,444 gallons) per year, or 69.7 gallons per day (gpd). Total 
residential per-capita use is .052 acre-feet per year, or 46.0 gpd. 
 
Per connection: Based on a total of 4,031 connections (at mid-year), total billed use per 
connection is .116 acre-feet per year, or 103.7 gpd. Residential use alone (excluding 
commercial, vacation-rental and internal use categories) is .088 acre-feet a year per 
connections, or 78.1 gallons per day, based on 3,531 connections. 
 
These per capita and per connection figures for 2018 are all significantly below pre-2013 
levels, showing the dramatic effects of conservation efforts during the 2013-2016 drought 
They have shown a modest upturn since bottoming out in 2015, but they still remain 
about 30% below 2013 levels (see Figure 1, which covers the 12 years for which the 
CCSD has billing records for residential customers only).  
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment14



 
 
(See also Table 1: Annual Billed Use by Category, 2007-2018) 
 
Cambria’s water use also is low compared to other communities in the Central Coast  
region, not to mention California as a whole. According to monthly data from the State 
Water Resources Control Board 
(https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/conservation_portal/conservatio
n_reporting.html), per capita residential water use on the Central Coast averaged 70.1 
gpd in 2018 – more than 50% above Cambria’s 46.0 gpd.  
 
We have found no current data showing how much water full-time residents use on a per-
capita basis. But we can infer that full-timers on average use somewhat less than 46 gpd 
per capita, because the CCSD’s “residential” category includes connections for part-time 
residents (who are not included in the total population figure of 6,032) as well as full-
time residents. The Census Bureau’s 2017 American Community Survey classifies 33% 
of Cambria’s housing units as “vacant.” This includes active vacation rentals and units 
for sale or rent that are truly unoccupied, but it also includes the large number of units – 
possibly a fifth of total units – that are occupied part-time. How much water these units 
use depends on how often the part-time residents occupy them, and we have no 
information on the average length of stay. See “Questions for Forecasting” below for 
more on this topic. 
 

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

140.0

160.0

180.0

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

G
al

lo
ns

 p
er

 D
ay

Figure	1:	Cambria	Daily	Water	Use,	2007-2018

Residential Billed per
Capita
Resdential Billed per
Connection
Total Billed per Capita

Total Billed per Connection

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment15



As with residential water use throughout the state, Cambria’s water use follows a clear 
seasonal pattern. From May through October, normally a time with little or no rain, 
residential use (based on a 2007-2018 average) is 61.1 GPD per capita. (See Table 2: 
May-Oct. Billed Use by Category, 2007-2008). This is 10.7% above the 55.2 gpd per 
capita annual average from the same 12-year period, and 24.2% above the 49.2 gpd 
average for November through April.  The summer upsurge is likely due both to 
landscape irrigation in the dry season and (possibly) more summer use of part-time 
residences. 
 
Commercial use shows a larger upsurge in the dry season. The rate per commercial 
connection jumps from 453.6 gpd in the rainy season to 616.5 gpd in the May-to-October 
period, an increase of 35.9%. The difference is presumably due mainly to higher tourism 
in the summer months. 
 
2) A Longer View of Cambria’s Water Usage 
 
Looking at long-term trends, we have annual water production data covering 44 years, 
from 1975 through 2018. Billed use records cover 33 years, from 1988 to 2018. Per 
capita usage figures are available for both periods, and records for usage per connection 
(not categorized in earlier years) date to 1991. (See Table 3: Historical Water 
Production and Billed Use: 1975-2018). 
 
These data series show two patterns that are important in forecasting future use. One is a 
long-term decline in per capita or per-connection water use. The other is a sharp drop in 
water use during extreme droughts, followed a partial recovery.  
 
In the earlier years of the production record (until about 2000), the decline in per capital 
use was masked by population gains, which were especially dramatic in the 1970s and 
1980s. This is why total production from 1975 (see Figure 2) shows a gradual rise 
overall. Even here, though, the most recent production totals are comparable to those 
from about 35 years before, when Cambria’s population was about two-thirds what it is 
now.  
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment16



 
 
Per-capita production (Figure 3) shows a significant decline, even before the most recent 
drought. The chart also shows how water use fell dramatically in each of the three severe 
droughts in this period – in 1976-77, 1988-91, and 2013-2016 – and then retraced some, 
but not all, of the drop in demand. 
 

 
 
Sources for long-term production and billing data: “A Review of Water Use & Water Management 
Alternatives in Cambria, California,” by James Fryer, June 2012; CCSD billing and production records.  
 
Based on the production records for the two earlier droughts, it appears that the full 
recovery of demand takes place over roughly seven years after demand bottoms out. 
From 1977 to 1984, for instance, per capita production went from 109.4 gpd to 155 gpd, 
after which it held steady and eventually fell. This 42% rise, however, retraced only 

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

19
75

19
77

19
79

19
81

19
83

19
85

19
87

19
89

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

Figure	2:	Total	Production,	Acre-Feet

0.0
20.0
40.0
60.0
80.0

100.0
120.0
140.0
160.0
180.0
200.0

19
75

19
77

19
79

19
81

19
83

19
85

19
87

19
89

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

Figure	3:	Per-Capita	Production,	Gallons	per	Day

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment17



about 59% of the drop during the drought. In other words, the drought led to a permanent 
reduction of demand, amounting to about 20% of pre-drought production.  
 
The pattern is the same for the drought that started in 1988, with demand hitting a low 
point in 1991. Per capita production fell 40%; per capita billed use fell 42%. By 1997, 
demand and billed use had reached a new plateau and were starting a gradual decline. But 
this new high point was still about 22% below the pre-drought peak in 1988. Billed use 
peaked a few years later, in 2001, but was even then about 25% below 1988.  
 
In the most recent drought, demand hit bottom in 2014, with per capita production falling 
36%, from 108.5 gpd to 69.1 gpd. Residential per-capita use hit its lowest point in 2015, 
plummeting 49% from 67.5 gpd to 34.5 gpd. In 2018, per capita production had 
rebounded only to 79.3 gpd, still 27% below the pre-drought peak. Per capita residential 
use had rebounded to 45.7, or 32% below the 2013 level.  
 
If the past pattern holds, we can expect two or three years of recovering demand, though 
at a much slower pace than we saw after the drought was declared over and Stage 3 
restrictions were lifted in 2017. The next peak, followed by a plateau or gradual decline, 
would occur in 2021 or 2022, and it would leave production and residential use at no 
more than 80% of prior peak levels. That would put per capita production at 86.8 gpd and 
per capita residential use at 54.0 gpd. 
 
The dry-season demand pattern in the recent drought was more pronounced than the 
annual pattern, but its general shape was the same. From a 2013 level of 121.7 gpd, per 
capita production in the May-October period fell 42% to 70.1 gpd and had rebounded to 
85.4 gpd by 2018, still 30% below the prior peak. Per capita residential use plummeted 
56%, from 75.0 gpd in 2013 to 33.0 gpd in 2014. At 50.3 gpd in 2018, it was still 33% 
below 2013.  
 
3) Water Rates and Other Conservation Factors 
 
There are several possible reasons why per capita water use has declined over the years 
and tends to stay well below prior levels after a major drought.  
 
 One is behavior change. In a drought severe enough to warrant strict restrictions over a 
substantial period, people learn to use less water for daily activities and, up to a point, get 
used to more frugal practices such as shorter showers. Another factor is replacement of 
high water-using appliances or landscaping with more water-thrifty alternatives such as 
low-flow toilets, more efficient washing machines and drought-tolerant trees, shrubs and 
ground cover.  
 
Rising water rates can also lead to permanent reductions in demand. Various economic 
studies of the impact of rates on consumption note that higher rates lead to significant 
reduction in demand over the long run. For instance, one comprehensive study of 
households in 11 U.S. and Canadian urban areas suggested a “price elasticity” of -0.33 in 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment18



water demand. This means that, for every doubling of water rates (a 100% increase), 
demand falls by 33%.1 

 
In Cambria, bimonthly water rates have more than doubled since before the latest 
drought, and they are due for a further increase in 2020. For a household consuming six 
units (600 cubic feet or 4,488 gallons) every two months, the marginal cost of one unit 
has gone from $7.99 in 2012 to $20.37 today, a rise of 155%. It is due to increase further 
to $22.01 next year. What this means is that, whereas a typical CCSD customer saved just 
under $8 (every two months) by reducing use by one unit seven years ago, the same 
customer saves $20.37 (or $122.22 a year) from the same cut in consumption.  This is an 
especially significant amount of money for people living on modest incomes.  
 
III. Questions for Forecasting  
 
1) Will demographic factors change? 
 
Census data from the past two decades (from the Bureau’s American Community Survey 
reports as well as the decennial Census) tell a consistent story about Cambria. Its 
population is significantly older than the state average, with a median age estimated at 
61.5 in the 2017 American Community Survey. (The statewide median in that same 
survey is 36.5). Its economy is based mainly on tourism; 57% of its workforce, according 
to a 2012 Census survey, is employed in “accommodation and food services.” To put this 
data in simple terms, retirees and near-retirees are the dominant group among Cambria’s 
residents, and visitors provide a living to most of its workers. 
 
The future of these demographic factors has important implications for forecasting water 
demand. For instance, a shift toward lower median ages might point toward a rise in 
younger, larger households, replacing retiree households with one or two occupants. This 
would lead to a higher occupancy rate per residential water connection, and higher water 
consumption as a result. 
 
1) What about the part-timers? 
 
As we noted above, the 2017 American Community Survey records 33% of Cambria’s 
housing units as “vacant,” up from 25% in 2000.  This is a broad category that includes 
units occupied part-time, as well as those used as vacation rentals, awaiting rental or sale, 
and simply empty.  
 
What is not known from Census data is how much of the overall residential water 
demand comes from part-timers. This is a significant gap in the knowledge needed for 
forecasting. Currently, in calculating per-capita demand we have only 1) the population 
of Cambria (i.e., full-timers) and 2) the consumption per residential water connection.  
But a significant number of those water connections are used by part-timers, who are not 
included in the population figure. So per-capita demand is overstated to some degree.  
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment19



This is not a problem if we assume that the mix of full-time and part-time occupancies 
will not change in the future. But change in either direction could make a major 
difference in future water use. For instance, if the vast majority of future new homes are 
occupied full-time, per-capita demand would be higher than at present. Demand would 
also rise if the trend toward greater part-time occupancy reverses and more existing 
homes are occupied full-time. 
 
By our calculations based on the 2010 Census, about 20% of all housing units are 
occupied part-time.2  However, the share of water consumption by these homes is 
impossible to estimate without knowing the average time that part-timers spend in 
Cambria.  
 
c) Now will ADUs affect demand? 
 
The encouragement by state and local governments of accessory dwelling units (ADUs) 
as a form of affordable housing adds an element of uncertainty to future demand 
calculations. These units are small structures added to existing residential parcels to 
provide additional full-time housing units. Under the San Luis Obispo County ordinance 
being considered for these, the CCSD would have to certify that adequate water is 
available for them. However, it is not clear if an additional water connection would be 
required.  
 
ADUs added to existing water connections (or added to future water connections for a 
conventional single-family home) could significantly increase the number of users per 
connection and hence the per-connection demand. The CCSD needs to get as clear a 
picture as possible of how many ADUs might ultimately be built and how this would 
affect its demand forecasts. 
 
d) How much of a difference will demand offsets make? 
 
In past forecasting, the CCSD has said that conservation measures could actually lower 
overall water demand even under full build-out (4,650 residential units). These would 
include retrofitting of existing construction as well as added requirements (such as dual 
plumbing and no outdoor use of potable water) on new construction.3 

 
To put this assertion to the test, the CCSD needs to know how well its conservation 
programs have worked up to now, and to know how much potential they have to save 
water in the future. In existing construction, for instance, future savings through demand 
offsets depend on how much older, less efficient plumbing fixtures and appliances remain 
in use. In new construction as well as old, the CCSD needs to consider the uncertainties 
surrounding technologies, such as the use of gray water for residential irrigation, that 
have not been widely adopted and do not have an extensive track record of reliability. 
The first step toward ascertaining Cambria’s conservation potential is to update the data 
and projection in the CCSD’s demand-offset programs. 
 
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment20



e)  How much potable water will be used for landscape irrigation? 
 
We can assume that much of the demand drop in the recent drought came from residents 
cutting back on outdoor irrigation, as well as a significant number of them buying 
irrigation water from non-CCSD sources. The future trend is less clear.. For instance, it is 
possible that many of the residents now buying non-potable water will switch to the 
potable CCSD water, which is still the cheaper option. On the other side of the ledger, 
changes in landscaping, such as a shift to drought-tolerant plantings, may hold demand 
down for the long term.  
 
To get a better idea of how much these trends might affect future demand, the CCSD 
needs to get a clearer idea of how much potable water is used for landscaping now. It 
might start by comparing water usage with wastewater production during different billing 
periods of the year. 
 
 
f) Will commercial maintain its share of the total? 
 
Billed water use in the commercial category, which includes visitor-serving lodging and 
restaurant businesses as well as businesses that primarily serve residents, was 27.6% in 
the latest full year (2018). With vacation rentals added, total use came to 32.4%. These 
are higher figures than those from the pre-drought years, when commercial use averaged  
23.4% (from 2003 to 2013) and commercial plus vacation rentals averaged 28.1% (from 
2007, the first year vacation rentals were a separate billing category).  
 
This shift toward a bigger commercial-plus-vacation rental share appears to be the result 
of differences in residential and commercial conservation rates during and after the 
drought. From 2013 to 2015, when water use bottomed out in both categories, residential 
use fall nearly 49%, from 456 to 232.9 acre-feet, while commercial use fell less than 
27%, from 154.3 to 113.1 acre-feet. Vacation rentals dropped by 38%, from 32.8 to 20.2 
acre-feet. Since then, however, the conservation gap has closed somewhat. From 2015 to 
2018, residential use bounced more than 32% off its 2015 low, while commercial use 
rose just 14% and vacation rental was up by less than 10%. 
 
For now, then, the ratio of commercial to residential use (with vacation rentals added to 
the commercial category) seems to be settling back to pre-drought levels. But what will 
happen to this number if Cambria adds a substantial number of new housing connections? 
The answer seems to depend on the amount and type of new business in Cambria. New 
visitor-facing development, especially lodging, would increase commercial use quite a 
lot, new retail business probably less. 
 
g) Will the production/usage gap shrink? 
 
In forecasting production, the most difficult number to pin down is the annual gap 
between water produced and water use billed. In the past 31 years, this gap has ranged 
from as high as 140.2 to as low as 38.6 acre-feet. It does not correlate clearly to demand. 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment21



so it is probably due largely to leakage, which in a pressurized system will occur whether 
or not people open their taps. However, the age and condition of water meters also can 
make a difference, with older meters tending to err on the down side.  
 
The average production-billed use gap in the past 12 years is 65.8 acre-feet per year. But 
even in that short period the annual number has ranged from 38.6 to 129.2 acre-feet. To 
put those numbers in perspective, the 2007-2018 average billed water use per residential 
connection was just 0.106 acre-feet a year. So a reduction of 10 acre-feet in water loss is 
equivalent to the water used by nearly 95 homes. (And this is based on an average 
including both pre- and post-drought years). 
 
We assume that the CCSD will continue its efforts to reduce water losses. How well it 
succeeds could have a major effect on forecasting its ability to meet new demand. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment22



 
Table 1: Annual Billed Use by Category, 2007-2018 
 

 Residential Vacation Rental Commercial 

Year (A) 

Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 

Connection 

Billed 
Use, 
GPD 

per 
Capita (A) 

Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 

Connection (A) 

Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 

Connection 
2007 3555 469.0 117.8 68.7 225 31.0 122.8 223 158.5 634.4 
2008 3523 454.8 115.3 66.9 251 32.1 114.3 226 150.2 593.2 
2009 3526 458.4 116.1 67.6 242 33.5 123.4 227 145.7 573.1 
2010 3528 433.9 109.8 64.2 241 31.5 116.7 228 144.3 565.1 
2011 3535 436.6 110.2 64.6 246 30.0 108.8 229 147.3 574.2 
2012 3545 459.5 115.7 68.0 236 30.5 115.4 229 150.9 588.1 
2013 3471 456.0 117.3 67.5 308 32.8 95.1 229 154.3 601.3 
2014 3489 237.0 60.6 35.1 291 22.0 67.5 229 119.1 464.3 
2015 3423 232.9 60.7 34.5 278 20.2 64.9 229 113.1 440.8 
2016 3513 259.6 66.0 38.4 267 21.4 72.6 229 119.2 464.8 
2017 3515 275.8 70.0 40.8 266 22.6 75.8 228 123.2 482.5 
2018 3531 309.0 78.1 45.7 249 22.3 80.0 228 129.3 506.2 

12-YEAR 
AVERAGES 3513 373.5 94.8 55.2 259 27.5 96.3 228 137.9 540.7 

 
Table 2: Dry Season (May-Oct.) Billed Use by Category, 2007-2018 
 
 Residential Vacation Rental Commercial 

 (A) 

 Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 
Connection 

Billed 
Use, 
GPD 
per 
Capita (A) 

Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 
Connection (A) 

Billed 
Use 
(AF) 

Billed Use, 
GPD per 
Connection 

2007 3555 266.9 133.0 77.6 225 17.4 136.7 223 91.9 729.7 
2008 3523 257.2 129.3 75.0 251 19.4 138.0 226 88.9 696.9 
2009 3526 256.6 128.9 75.1 242 19.6 144.2 227 85.1 664.0 
2010 3528 250.5 125.7 73.5 241 19.0 140.6 228 85.9 667.0 
2011 3535 246.1 123.3 72.3 246 17.5 126.8 229 87.8 678.9 
2012 3545 261.0 130.4 76.6 236 18.0 135.8 229 90.5 699.9 
2013 3471 255.4 130.3 75.0 308 22.1 128.1 229 93.2 720.7 
2014 3489 112.6 57.1 33.0 291 11.3 69.3 229 61.7 477.2 
2015 3423 119.4 61.8 35.1 278 11.3 72.6 229 60.9 471.0 
2016 3513 139.9 70.5 41.1 267 12.5 83.7 229 65.1 503.5 
2017 3515 162.4 81.8 47.7 266 13.6 91.0 228 68.3 530.3 
2018 3531 171.2 85.9 50.3 249 12.7 90.8 228 74.1 575.6 

12-YEAR 
AVERAGES 3513 208.3 105.0 61.1 258 16.2 111.8 228 79.5 617.9 

 
Notes to Tables 1 and 2 -- 
 
(A): Connections at mid-year (May-June billing period) except Sept.-Oct. in 2017 
GPD: Gallons per day 
AF: Acre-feet 
Internal accounts not included 
 
 
 
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment23



 
Table 3: Historical Water Production and Billed Use, 1975-2018 
 

  Production Billed Use 

Production 
Minus Billed 
Use 

Production 
Minus Billed 
Use (% of 
Production)  Population 

GPCD* 
Production 

GPCD* 
Billed Use 

1975 483.4    2310 186.8  
1976 517.8    2552 181.1  
1977 330.0    2692 109.4  
1978 447.5    2831 141.1  
1979 456.4    2971 137.1  
1980 473.1    3110 135.8  
1981 518.5    3285 140.9  
1982 510.6    3471 131.3  
1983 568.4    3666 138.4  
1984 672.4    3873 155.0  
1985 681.0    4091 148.6  
1986 740.6    4322 153.0  
1987 777.0    4566 151.9  
1988 819.5 725.3 94.2 11.49% 4823 151.7 134.3 
1989 797.0 715.9 81.1 10.18% 5095 139.6 125.4 
1990 663.8 586.8 77.0 11.60% 5382 110.1 97.3 
1991 555.7 473.2 82.5 14.85% 5462 90.8 77.3 
1992 677.7 537.5 140.2 20.69% 5543 109.1 86.6 
1993 691.4 570.4 121.0 17.50% 5625 109.7 90.5 
1994 662.1 597.7 64.4 9.73% 5708 103.6 93.5 
1995 677.8 601.0 76.8 11.34% 5792 104.5 92.6 
1996 718.3 642.8 75.5 10.50% 5878 109.1 97.6 
1997 785.8 646.0 139.8 17.79% 5965 117.6 96.7 
1998 707.5 614.3 93.2 13.17% 6053 104.3 90.6 
1999 774.6 668.5 106.1 13.70% 6142 112.6 97.2 
2000 798.8 687.2 111.6 13.97% 6232 114.4 98.4 
2001 797.9 693.2 104.7 13.13% 6212 114.7 99.6 
2002 809.5 700.1 109.4 13.51% 6191 116.7 101.0 
2003 792.9 698.5 94.4 11.90% 6171 114.7 101.1 
2004 772.6 659.4 113.2 14.66% 6151 112.1 95.7 
2005 741.2 643.7 97.5 13.15% 6131 107.9 93.7 
2006 746.1 688.3 57.8 7.75% 6111 109.0 100.6 
2007 748.2 701.5 46.7 6.24% 6091 109.7 102.8 
2008 707.6 669.0 38.6 5.46% 6071 104.1 98.4 
2009 699.5 660.5 39.0 5.57% 6052 103.2 97.4 
2010 672.4 619.1 53.3 7.93% 6032 99.5 91.6 
2011 682.9 620.7 62.2 9.11% 6032 101.1 91.9 
2012 724.7 657.4 67.4 9.29% 6032 107.3 97.3 
2013 733.1 662.2 70.9 9.67% 6032 108.5 98.0 
2014 466.8 392.5 74.2 15.91% 6032 69.1 58.1 
2015 467.0 399.5 67.5 14.46% 6032 69.1 59.1 
2016 494.3 421.4 72.9 14.74% 6032 73.2 62.4 
2017 575.7 446.6 129.2 22.43% 6032 85.2 66.1 
2018 535.9 468.5 67.5 12.59% 6032 79.3 69.3 
GPCD: Gallons per capita per day 
 
Sources: CCSD for billed use and production (after 1987); “A Review of Water Use & Water Management 
Alternatives in Cambria, California” by James Fryer (2012) for production through 1987 and population 
estimates through 2009; 2010 Census for population after 2009. 
 
The Fryer report compiled totals for annual water production and annual billed water use from annual 
Public Water System Statistics report filed with the California Department of Water Resources for the years 
these reports were available.  

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment24



Endnote 10 in the report (Appendix A, VII) adds: “Some years, including 2005, utilized data from the 2010 
Urban Water Management Plan. Annual production from 1975 through 1987 is from CCSD’s 1994 
Environmental Impact Report, Table 2, p. 3-8. The total number of connections for each year from CCSD’s 
Public Water System Statistics reports when available, and for some of the earlier years from a CCSD 
Memo from Tammy Rudock to the California Coastal Commission, May 11, 2005, as part of the Pine 
Knolls Water Tanks Appeal Number A-3-SLO-05-017, Exhibit S, page 6 of 13. The population is from the 
U.S. census Bureau and averaged for years in between 1970, 1980, 1990, 2000 and 2010. The GPCD for 
each year is derived from the total annual production and the population.” 
 
Notes:  
 
1Sheila M. Olmstead and Robert Stavins, “Managing Water Demand: Price vs. Non-Price Conservation 
Programs,” July 2007, p. 23 (retrieved at 
http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.371.7705&rep=rep1&type=pdf). 
report “Residential Water Use Trends and Implications for Conservation Policy” 
(https://lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/3611).  
 
2According to the 2010 Census, 4,030 residents live in 1,985 owner-occupied units, and 2,001 residents live 
in 777 renter-occupied units. Another 1,300 housing units are labeled “vacant. Of these,  
242 units are for sale or rent or otherwise unoccupied, and 1,058 “vacant” units are used “for seasonal, 
recreational, or occasional use.” Of these, 228 (according to 2018 CCSD billing records) were active 
vacation rentals. The remaining 830 are presumably part-time residences, although are known to be 
occupied virtually full-time by people who maintain legal residences elsewhere.  
 
3See, for instance, the 2015 Urban Water Master Plan update, pp. 25, 72-75 
 
List of Data Sources: 
 
Cambria Community Services District:  

 
1) Monthly water production records from 1988; published monthly in CCSD Board meeting 

agendas (for latest, see Agenda for Sept. 19, 2019, p. 29: 
https://www.cambriacsd.org/files/a8b1e2c48/2019+09+19+Amended+2+Regular+Meeting+A
genda+Packet+Posted.pdf 

 
2) Bi-monthly utility summary billing pages from 2003. Data is available online from 2012 to 

present on “District Financial Information” page at  https://www.cambriacsd.org/district-
financial-information; earlier reports were provided on request by the CCSD. We would 
especially like to thank Pamela Duffield for her help in this area. 

 
U.S. Census Bureau: 
 

1) Decennial 2000 Census: “Profile of General Demographic Characteristics, 2000,” and 
“General Housing Characteristics, 2000.” 
 

2) Decennial 2019 Census: “Profile of General Demographic and Housing Characteristics, 
2010,” and “General Housing Characteristics, 2010.”  

 
3) “Selected Housing Characteristics, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-year 

Estimates.” 
 

4) “Selected Housing Characteristics, 2006-2010 American Community Survey 5-year 
Estimates.” 

 
5) “Economy-Wide Key Statistics, 2012” for Cambria CDP. 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment25



 
All of the above tables are available online at the American Fact Finder website under data for 
“Cambria CDP” at https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml. 
 

 
 
James Fryer, “); “A Review of Water Use & Water Management Alternatives in Cambria, California, ” 
(2012): 
 

 Production totals from 1975 through 1987; billed water use totals from 1988 through 2002; 
population estimates through 2009.  
Fryer’s report can be retrieved online at the Greenspace website:         
https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/150659eb-035a-44f6-8264-
ba16acbf6362/downloads/1c4kut79q_530345.pdf?ver=1569870767926 

 
 

Regular Business Item 7.C. Attachment26


	Meeting Agenda



